IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUL 11 1995

**CLERK, SUPREME COURT** Chief Deputy Clerk

JERRY JAY CHICONE, III,

Petitioner,

v.

**CASE NO.** 85,136

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review Of Decision Of Florida Fifth District Court Of Appeal

# PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON MERITS

TERRENCE E. KEHOE Law Offices of Terrence E. Kehoe Tinker Building 18 West Pine Street Orlando, Florida 32801 407/422-4147 407/849-6059 (FAX)

JAMES M. RUSS Law Offices of James M. Russ, P.A. Tinker Building 18 West Pine Street Orlando, Florida 32801 407/849-6050 407/849-6059 (FAX)

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief the Petitioner, **JERRY JAY CHICONE**, **III**, will be referred to as "MR. CHICONE." The Respondent, the State of Florida, will be referred to as "the state."

The record on appeal consists of two initial volumes, plus The first volume contains one three supplemental volumes. transcript of several excerpts of the jury trial proceedings. second volume contains one transcript of the sentencing proceeding, plus various pleadings and orders filed in this case. The first supplemental volume contains one piece of correspondence and a clerk's certificate. The second supplemental volume contains an excerpt from post-verdict proceedings. The third supplemental volume contains the trial court docket sheets. References to the first two volumes of record on appeal in this brief will be to the Roman numeral of the volume, followed by a slash, followed by the specific page(s) within that volume. References to the supplemental record will be by the letters "SR," followed by a slash, followed by the specific page(s) within that volume.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

A.

#### PROCEEDINGS BELOW

This case is a direct appeal from a judgment and sentence entered against MR. CHICONE in a criminal case arising in the Circuit Court, Ninth Judicial Circuit, in and for Orange County, Florida ("trial court").

On September 11, 1992, the State of Florida filed a criminal information charging MR. CHICONE with two counts (II/84). Specifically, Count One alleged

...that Jerry J. Chicone III, on the 4th day of August, 1992, in said County and State, did, in violation of Florida Statute 893.13(1)(f), actually or constructively possess Cocaine, or a mixture containing Cocaine, a substance controlled by Florida Statute 893.03(2)(a)(4).

## Count Two alleged

...that Jerry J. Chicone III, on the 4th day of August, 1992, in said County and State, did, in violation of Florida Statute 893.147(1), use or possess drug paraphernalia, to-wit: a smoking device, with intent to use said paraphernalia to inject, ingest, inhale, or otherwise introduce into the human body or process, prepare, pack, repack, store or contain a controlled substance, in violation Chapter 893 Florida Statute.

MR. CHICONE filed a motion to dismiss both counts of the criminal information, asserting among other things that neither count alleged all essential elements of the offense charged, because neither alleged the essential element of scienter or knowledge (II/85-89). That motion was denied prior to trial (II/91-92).

A trial occurred on August 9-11, 1993 (SR/182). On August 11, 1993, the jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged as to both counts (II/121-122). MR. CHICONE's post-verdict motions for new trial, arrest of judgment, and judgment of acquittal (I/70-71; II/124-129; SR/175-176) were denied (II/131-134).

At sentencing on October 6, 1993 (II/73-83), the trial court withheld formal adjudication of guilt, and placed MR. CHICONE on

one year of community control to be followed by three years of probation (II/73-83, 138, 139-144). The trial court did not orally pronounce separate sentences for Counts One and Two (II/78-82).

MR. CHICONE filed a timely notice of appeal (II/136-138), and an amended notice of appeal (II/154-162). On December 2, 1994, the Fifth District affirmed MR. CHICONE'S convictions, but reversed his sentence and remanded for resentencing. Chicone v. State, \_\_\_\_\_\_ So.2d (Fla. 5th DCA 12/2/94) [19 Fla. L. Weekly D2538].

A Motion for Rehearing, Rehearing En Banc, or Certification to the Florida Supreme Court was filed, and denied by order dated , January 12, 1995. The Fifth District issued its mandate on February 15, 1995.

On February 2, 1995, MR. CHICONE filed his Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court. That jurisdiction was granted by order dated June 14, 1995.

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla.Const., and Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

в.

#### **FACTS**

At the jury charge conference (I/2-38), on the charge of possession of cocaine found in Count One, MR. CHICONE orally and in writing requested that the trial court add a fourth element to the standard jury charge. That element was "MR. CHICONE knew that the substance was cocaine" (I/28-29; II/100). The trial court refused

to do so, and, over objection, read the standard jury instruction (1/26-30).

As to Count Two, in addition to the language set forth in the standard jury instruction, MR. CHICONE orally and in writing requested that the jury be instructed that the third essential element which must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt was that "MR. CHICONE knew that the object was drug paraphernalia" (I/32; II/102). The trial court refused to do so, and, over objection, read the standard jury instruction (I/31-32).

At the October 6, 1993, sentencing hearing, the trial court orally pronounced a sentence of one year community control followed by three years of probation, as well as a number of conditions (II/77). The trial court did not specify what count that sentence applied to. The written order/court minutes filed that day set forth a period of one year community control on both counts, as well as certain conditions (II/135). The two written orders - one for each count - signed by the sentencing judge on November 12, 1993, specified that the one year of community control followed by three years of probation was to be served on both counts (II/139-144). Additionally, the November 12, 1993, written orders differ from the October 6, 1993 oral pronouncements of the court and set forth conditions which were neither announced by the trial court on October 6, nor included within the standard conditions in Florida Statutes (I/77-82; II/139-144).

#### FIFTH DISTRICT'S DECISION

As to the sufficiency of the criminal information, the Fifth District affirmed the denial of the motion to dismiss and stated:

The state neither had to prove, nor allege in its information, that Chicone knew the substance he possessed was cocaine, or that he knew the object he possessed was drug paraphernalia.

19 Fla. L. Weekly D2538. As for the denial of the requested defense instructions, the Fifth District stated:

Because "knowledge" of the nature of the substance or object possessed was not an essential element of either count, the trial judge refused to instruct the jury that the state had to prove that Chicone knew the substance was cocaine and that he knew the object was drug paraphernalia. The trial judge did not err.

<u>Id</u>. As for the sentencing issue, the Fifth District stated:

We do, however, remand the case for resentencing. ... The trial judge did not state to which count or both probation applied, or to which count or both community control applied. Subsequently, the court entered a written order which ordered that Chicone serve the same conditions of probation on each count, the sentences to run concurrently. Additional conditions not announced orally were also included in the written order. We reverse.

In this case, because the trial judge imposed an illegal sentence on the misdemeanor offense of possession of drug paraphernalia, and because the special conditions which were not orally announced were included in the written order, we quash the sentencing order

and remand for sentencing and resolution of the discrepancies. <u>Cleveland v. State</u>, 617 So.2d 1166 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993).

Id.1

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

I.

### JUDGMENTS MUST BE VACATED WHERE BOTH COUNTS OF INFORMATION FAILED TO ALLEGED ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF KNOWLEDGE

The Fifth District erred in affirming the trial court orders which denied MR. CHICONE's pre-trial motion to dismiss and post-trial motion for arrest of judgment where neither count of the criminal information alleged the essential element of scienter or knowledge. As knowledge of the illicit nature of the item possessed was both an essential element of the possession of cocaine offense and the possession of drug paraphernalia offense, the judgments must be reversed.

II.

# JUDGMENTS MUST BE VACATED WHERE OFFENSE JURY INSTRUCTIONS OMITTED ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF KNOWLEDGE.

MR. CHICONE was denied his fundamental rights to due process and a fair trial due to inaccurate jury instructions. First, as to the charge of knowing possession of cocaine, the trial court failed to instruct the jury that it must find that MR. CHICONE knew the substance was cocaine. Second, as to the charge of knowing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> MR. CHICONE raised an additional issue on appeal to the Fifth District, that of the adequacy of the trial court's reasonable doubt instruction. That issue is not raised in this Court.

possession of drug paraphernalia, the trial court failed to instruct the jury that it must find that MR. CHICONE had knowledge of the illicit nature of the paraphernalia. These errors require that MR. CHICONE be granted a new trial.

III.

SENTENCES MUST BE REVERSED DUE TO
A) IMPOSITION OF GENERAL SENTENCE,
B) IMPOSITION OF ILLEGAL SENTENCE ON
COUNT TWO, AND C) DIFFERENCES BETWEEN
ORAL PRONOUNCEMENT AND WRITTEN ORDERS

The sentences must be reversed for numerous errors. the Fifth District correctly ruled that trial the court orally imposed a general sentence, without specifying a sentence on each Second, possession of drug paraphernalia is a misdemeanor of the first degree. As community control is not available as a sentence for misdemeanors, the imposition of one year of community for the drug paraphernalia offense was control improper. Additionally, the November 12, 1993, order places MR. CHICONE on one year of community control to be followed by three years of probation for the drug paraphernalia offense. As this exceeds the statutory maximum of one year, the Fifth District correctly ruled that the sentence on Count Two is invalid. Third, there were numerous differences between the oral pronouncement of the court on October 6 and the written order imposing conditions of community control and probation entered on November 12, 1993. However, the remanding for resolution District erred in the "discrepancies" between the written orders and oral pronouncements.

All special conditions of probation which were not orally announced were required to be stricken and cannot be imposed on remand.

#### **ARGUMENTS**

I.

# JUDGMENTS MUST BE VACATED WHERE BOTH COUNTS OF INFORMATION FAILED TO ALLEGED ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF KNOWLEDGE

This Court must reverse the Fifth District's ruling on the sufficiency of the criminal information. The judgments in this case must be vacated because the criminal information upon which the two verdicts of guilty are based failed to allege the essential element of "scienter." Because a judgment cannot rest on an information which contains an insufficient allegation, neither judgment can stand.

The criminal information filed in this case alleged that MR. CHICONE:

Count One: "... on the 4th day of August, 1992, . . , did, in violation of Florida Statute 893.13(1)(f), actually or constructively possess Cocaine, or a mixture containing Cocaine, a substance controlled by Florida Statute 893.03(2)(a)(4)."

Count Two: "... on the 4th day of August, 1992, ..., did, in violation of Florida Statute 893.147(1), use or possess drug paraphernalia, to-wit: a smoking device, with intent to use said paraphernalia to inject, ingest, inhale, or otherwise introduce into the human body or process, prepare, pack, repack, store or contain a controlled substance, in violation of Chapter 893 Florida Statute." (II/84).

MR. CHICONE filed a pre-trial motion to dismiss alleging the information was insufficient due to its failure to allege the essential element of scienter and knowledge (II/85-89). A hearing was held on the motion, after which it was denied (II/91-92). A post-trial oral motion for arrest of judgment raising this issue was made (SR/175-176), accompanied by a legal memorandum (II/124-129). That post-trial motion was denied (II/131-134).

It is fundamental tenet of Florida and federal constitutional due process that a person may not be convicted of a crime for which he was not charged and tried. Cole v. Arkansas, 333 U.S. 196, 68 S.Ct. 514, 517, 92 L.Ed. 644 (1948); Long v. State, 92 So.2d 259, 260 (Fla. 1957). As the United States Supreme Court stated in De Jonge v. Oregon, 299 U.S. 353, 57 S.Ct. 255, 259, 81 L.Ed. 278 (1937), "Conviction upon a charge not made would be sheer denial of due process." Achin v. State, 436 So.2d 30, 31 (Fla. 1982); Ray v. State, 403 So.2d 956, 959 (Fla. 1981). MR. CHICONE therefore cannot be convicted of and sentenced for knowing possession of cocaine and drug paraphernalia since the criminal information did not adequately charge him with those crimes.

Under both the United States and Florida Constitutions, a fundamental right of due process which every defendant possesses is the right to notice of the nature of the accusation against him.

Connally v. General Construction Co., 269 U.S. 385, 46 S.Ct. 126, 70 L.Ed. 322 (1926); State v. Sykes, 434 So.2d 325, 328 (Fla. 1983); Amend. VI and XIV, U.S. Const.; Art. I, § 16, Fla. Const. It is to the charge for which a defendant has been put on notice,

and it alone, that a defendant must prepare his defenses and for which he may ultimately be convicted. As the United States Supreme Court stated in Cole, supra:

[N]o principle of procedural due process is more clearly established than that notice of the specific charge, and a chance to be heard in a trial of the issues raised by that charge, if desired, are among the constitutional rights of every accused in a criminal proceeding in all courts, state or federal.

#### 68 S.Ct. at 517.

The criminal information in MR. CHICONE's case failed to allege the essential element of "scienter" in both counts and failed to provide adequate notice that MR. CHICONE was charged with knowing possession of cocaine and knowing possession of drug paraphernalia since it did not allege the essential element of scienter.

To be valid, an information must allege each essential element, and no essential element may be left to inference. <u>State v. Dye</u>, 346 So.2d 538, 541 (Fla. 1977).

Although the trial court denied MR. CHICONE's pre-trial motion to dismiss, it explicitly recognized that scienter was an element of the two charges to be proved at trial when it instructed the jury that it must find that MR. CHICONE had knowledge of the presence of the alleged cocaine and the presence of the drug paraphernalia (I/40-41). But merely instructing the jury on the element of scienter is not enough. It is equally important that the information in this case allege all essential elements. Dye, supra.

Scienter is an essential element of a criminal possession charge. Knowledge of the nature of the matter being possessed, i.e., that the matter possessed is illegal, has long been an essential element of Florida offenses. It is simply not enough to know that a certain item is present. To be charged with and convicted of a criminal offense of possession a defendant must not only know the presence of an item, but know of its illicit nature. Not all white powdery substances are cocaine. Not all green leafy substances are marijuana. Not all soda cans and pipes are drug paraphernalia. Not all books and magazines are obscene. Not all sexually explicit films contain scenes involving minors. For that reason, courts have held that an essential element of crimes of possession of any of these objects is the defendant's knowledge of the illegal contents of the item involved. See e.g., United States v. X-Citement Video, Inc., \_\_ U.S. \_\_, 115 S.Ct. 464, 130 L.Ed.2d 372 (1994) (defendant must know that one performer in film was a minor to be convicted of crime prohibiting knowingly transporting a visual depiction of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct); Staples v. United States, 511 U.S. \_\_, 114 S.Ct. 1793, 128 L.Ed.2d 608 (1994) (government must prove that defendant knew that weapon had characteristics that brought it within statutory definition of machine gun); Cohen v. State, 125 So.2d 560 (Fla. 1960) (implied element of sale of obscene material is knowledge of the obscene character of the material); <u>Dubose v. State</u>, 560 So.2d 323 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (state failed to prove that rolling papers constituted drug paraphernalia); Williams v. State, 529 So.2d 345

(Fla. 1st DCA 1988) (state failed to prove that triple-beam scale was drug paraphernalia); Rutskin v. State, 260 So.2d 525 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972) (knowledge of presence of illegal substance is essential element of possession of marijuana).

In <u>State v. Dominguez</u>, 509 So.2d 917, 918 (Fla. 1987), this Court reiterated that knowledge of the nature of the illegal substance was a necessary element of a drug trafficking offense.<sup>2</sup> This Court made it clear in <u>Way v. State</u>, 475 So.2d 239, 241 (Fla. 1985), that lack of knowledge of the nature of the substance is a defense in a trafficking charge. Of course, one of the components of trafficking under § 893.135, Fla.Stat. (1991), is possession. The only difference between trafficking and possession is the amount of the substance involved. <u>Dominguez</u> and <u>Way</u> therefore dictate that knowledge is an essential element of a possession prosecution under § 893.13, Fla.Stat. (1991).

As has been noted in a number of cases, knowledge is an essential element of all possession of controlled substance charges. Dominguez, 509 So.2d at 918; Way, 475 So. 2d at 240-241; Agee v. State, 522 So.2d 1044, 1046 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988); Howard v. State, 467 So.2d 445, 446 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). Knowledge that paraphernalia would be used for an illicit purposes is an essential element of the possession of drug paraphernalia charge. Baldwin v. State, 498 So.2d 1385, 1386 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986); Florida Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, Offense Instruction for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In contrast to the possession offenses found in § 893.13, the trafficking statute, § 893.135, specifically includes the term "knowingly."

§ 893.147(1) (1993 ed.). The reason for this rule in drug cases is clearly set forth in <u>Rutskin v. State</u>, 260 So.2d 525 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972). In <u>Rutskin</u>, the defendant was in possession of a mail parcel which contained marijuana. In reversing the conviction, the First District stated:

There was no evidence that the appellant had knowledge that the unopened parcel contained marijuana. The fact that he happened to be the addressee of the parcel obviously does not supply the evidence that he knew that the parcel contained marijuana or any other contraband. If this were not so, any innocent person could be convicted of possession of marijuana just because he happens to be the recipient of a package containing marijuana.

#### <u>Id</u>. at 526.

The cases relied upon by the Fifth District do not support its decision. Neither State v. Medlin, 273 So.2d 394 (Fla. 1973), nor State v. Ryan, 413 So.2d 411 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. denied, 421 So.2d 518 (Fla. 1982), mandate the result reached. First of all, neither is a possession case. Second, Medlin discussed, and distinguished, both Rutskin, supra, and Frank v. State, 199 So.2d 117 (Fla. 1st DCA 1967). It did not overrule either case. Yet in those cases, as well as the post-Medlin cases of Camp v. State, 293 So.2d 114 (Fla. 4th DCA), cert. denied, 302 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1974), and Doby v. State, 352 So.2d 1236 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977), the appellate courts explicitly ruled that knowledge of the presence of narcotic drugs was an essential element of possession charges. It is important to note that the Florida Supreme Court denied certiorari in Camp after Medlin had been decided.

The Fifth District even failed to follow its own precedents. In State v. Oxx, 417 So.2d 287 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), the Fifth District was confronted with the issue of whether a statute which made it unlawful to introduce into, or possess upon, the ground of any county detention facility certain contraband items was unconstitutional due to a lack of a scienter element. In discussing this issue, the court discussed the existence of the knowledge element in possession offenses as follows:

Knowledge possession of is generally considered a part of the definition of possession as used in criminal statutes making possession a crime. Section 893.13, Florida Statutes (1981), prohibiting the actual or constructive possession of a controlled substance, and its predecessors, have never specifically required "knowing" possession, yet possession has always been defined to include knowledge of the same. A similar construction has been placed on other criminal possession statutes.

417 So.2d at 290; footnotes omitted. In concluding the statute was constitutional, the court stated:

Further, possession in the context of this statute means possession and knowledge of the same, and appellee's knowledge (or lack of knowledge) of his possession is, subject to an appropriate instruction, an issue for the jury.

Id. at 291; footnote omitted.

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