FILED

SID J. WHITE

IUL 31 1995

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JERRY JAY CHICONE, III,

Petitioner,

٧.

CASE NO. 85,136

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ANTHONY J. GOLDEN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #162172
444 Seabreeze Blvd.
5th Floor
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Under Section 893.13(1)(f), there is no element of guilty knowledge. If the general intent is present, a person found to have possession of a controlled substance may be guilty regardless of whether the person actually knows the substance is cocaine. The crime of simple possession is a "strict liability" offense; guilty knowledge is not an element of the crime, and the State need not include a knowledge element in the Information. The standard jury instructions on knowledge were given to the jury. No additional special instructions were necessary or appropriate.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal remanded this cause to the trial court so that it could reimpose the special conditions of probation included in the written order but not orally mentioned during the sentencing hearing. If such special conditions will be of value in accomplishing the purposes of the probation, the defendant should be given another hearing at which he can be advised concerning those special conditions and at which he can offer any objections thereto. A blanket rule requiring the deletion of all special conditions not orally pronounced is not legally required and is a disservice to the probationer himself.

ARGUMENT

POINT I AND II -- RESTATED

THETRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING PETITIONER'S MOTTON TO DISMISS THE INFORMATION FOR FAILURE TOALLEGE KNOWLEDGE AND TN INSTRUCTING THE JURY FROM FLORIDA STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTIONS ON THIS OFFENSE.

Petitioner was charged by Information with the third degree felony of possession of cocaine under Section 893.13(1)(f), Florida Statutes (1991), and the first degree misdemeanor of possession of paraphernalia under Section 893.147(1), Florida Statutes (1991). (R84). Possession of a controlled substance under Section 893.13 is considered a general intent crime, that is, the statute does not include a criminal knowledge provision. This type of general intent crime is distinguished from specific drug trafficking intent crimes such under as 893.135(1)(b)1, Florida Statutes (1991), in which the element of quilty knowledge has been specifically included bv legislature. Guilty knowledge is not an element of the statutory offense of possession of cocaine. Therefore, the Information need not have included a knowledge element. See Green v. State, 602 So. 2d 1306, 1308-1309 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992); review denied 613 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1992).

As Judge Farmer noted in his dissent in <u>Gartrell v. State</u>, 609 So. 2d 112, 118-119 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992):

Unlike the trafficking statute, there is no element in the simple possession statute of guilty knowledge. Under this latter statute, if the general intent is

present, a person found to have possession of a controlled substance may be guilty regardless of whether the person actually knows the substance is cocaine. The crime of simple possession is a "strict liability" offense; guilty knowledge is not an element of the crime, and the state has no burden in a prima facie case to show that the defendant knew precisely what the substance was.

However, that does not mean that the defendant cannot place his general intent in issue where, for example, he argues that the premises where the contraband was found were in joint, rather than exclusive, possession. Under that circumstance, the defendant's knowledge of the contraband's presence and his ability to control it will not be inferred merely from the fact of his ownership of the premises. Brown v. State, 428 So. 2d 250, 252 (Fla. 1983); cert. denied 463 U.S. 1209, 103 S.Ct. 3541, 77 L.Ed.2d 1391 (1983). That is why the standard jury instructions include the following:

If a person has exclusive possession of a thing, knowledge of its presence may be inferred or assumed. If a person does not have exclusive possession of a thing, knowledge of its presence may not be inferred or assumed.

In the instant case, the jury was instructed from the standard jury instructions concerning the distinction between the knowledge which can be inferred from exclusive possession of drugs and paraphernalia as opposed to non-exclusive possession. The jury was also instructed that the State must prove that:

"Mr. Chicone had knowledge of the presence of the substance".

(T40-42). Petitioner's requested special instructions were unnecessary.

Petitioner has not seen fit to include in the record on appeal the transcript of the evidence adduced against him at his trial. It is impossible to conclude from the record provided to the District Court whether Petitioner's possession was exclusive or joint, whether the contraband was discovered on his person or property, whether he was in his home or in public, whether he was actually using the paraphernalia to ingest the cocaine at the time of his arrest and what other circumstances relevant to the knowledge issue have been excluded from the record now before this Court.

The appellate courts of Florida have long held that where the transcripts provided to the reviewing court are inadequate, error cannot be presumed. Howell v. State, 337 So.2d 823 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976); Yearty v. State, 354 So.2d 76 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978). The burden is on the appellant to produce a sufficient record to demonstrate reversible error. State v. G.P., 588 So. 2d 253, 254 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), citing Sapp v. State, 411 So. 2d 363 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982). Given the lack of a trial transcript and given the general inadequacy of the record, Petitioner cannot establish that the trial court erred in its instructions to the jury concerning the evidence adduced at his trial.

It should be noted that, at his sentencing hearing in this case, Petitioner also entered a no contest plea to possession of cocaine in Orange County Circuit Court Case No. CR91-3308. (R73-83). (In Florida Supreme Court Case No. 84,780, this Court

declined to accept jurisdiction to review that conviction and sentence.) Charges for possession of cocaine and paraphernalia had been pending for a considerable period of time in that case when Petitioner was arrested for possession of cocaine and paraphernalia in the instant case. That fact would certainly have some bearing on whether Petitioner's possession of cocaine and paraphernalia was "knowing" in the instant case. Petitioner has failed to establish that the Information was fatally defective or that the trial court erred in instructing the jury on knowledge.

POINT III --RESTATED

ON REMAND, THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD BE ALLOWED TO REIMPOSE SPECIAL CONDITIONS OF PETITIONER'S PROBATION CONTAINED IN ITS WRITTEN PROBATION ORDER BUT NOT ORALLY PRONOUNCED DURING THE SENTENCING HEARING.

At Petitioner's sentencing hearing on October 6, 1993, the trial court judge withheld adjudication of guilt and placed Petitioner on one year of community control to be followed by three years of probation. Petitioner was fined \$1000 and court costs of \$255 were imposed. Petitioner was ordered to pay an additional \$100 to a drug rehabilitation agency. He was further ordered to do 300 hours of community service work. He was told that he would be subject to random urinalysis and that he would be required to attend and complete a drug treatment program. (R78-81, 138). The trial judge signed the court minutes on the day of sentencing, but did not file its written "Order Placing Petitioner on Community Control Followed by Probation", until November 12, 1993, "NUNC PRO TUNC 10/6/93". (R135, 139-141). Petitioner and Respondent agree that the offense of possession of drug paraphernalia is a first degree misdemeanor and the sentence imposed for that offense was illegal and the cause should be remanded for resentencing on that count. The issue before this Court is whether special conditions of the probation included in the written probation order on the felony conviction and not orally mentioned during the sentencing hearing must be stricken or whether they may be reimposed on remand.

Initially, Respondent would note that it seems to be well settled that statutorily authorized conditions of probation may be included in a written order of probation even if not orally pronounced at sentencing. Zeigler v. State, 647 So. 2d 272, 273 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994); Nank v. State, 646 So. 2d 762, 763 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994). In Nank, the Second District Court concluded that the statute provides constructive notice of the conditions and that fact together with the opportunity to be heard at the sentencing hearing satisfy the requirements of procedural due process, citing Tillman v. State, 592 So. 2d 767, 768 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992). The Second District Court went on to reiterate its position that special conditions of probation not statutorily authorized must be orally pronounced during the sentencing hearing before they can be included in the written probation order, citing Cumbie v. State, 597 So. 2d 946 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). However, the real bone of contention arises from the Court's conclusion that those special conditions not orally pronounced must be stricken.

Writing for the majority of the Court in his opinion on rehearing en banc in <u>Justice v. State</u>, 5th DCA Case No. 94-501, Opinion filed July 21, 1995, Judge Harris explained the conflict among the district courts on the issue of whether or not the unannounced special conditions can be reimposed on remand. (Appendix II -- <u>Justice v. State</u>, 5th DCA Slip Opinion filed July 21, 1995). All the district courts agree that the probationer should have the opportunity to object to special conditions of his probation. The Fifth District Court of Appeal has remanded cases where the special conditions of probation were not orally

pronounced at sentencing to permit the trial court to orally pronounce those conditions and to give the probationer the opportunity to object to them. See <u>Brooks v. State</u>, 649 So. 2d 329, 330 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995); <u>Cleveland v. State</u>, 617 So. 2d 1166 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993); <u>Anderson v. State</u>, 616 So. 2d 200 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993). Other district courts simply order the special conditions not orally pronounced stricken from the probation order.

Judge Harris explained that, because the sentence is not final until reduced to writing and filed with the clerk, remanding the case to allow the trial court to orally pronounce the special conditions and to give the defendant the opportunity to object to them does not constitute an enhancement of an existing final order of probation under this Court's decisions in Lippman v. State, 633 So. 2d 1061 (Fla. 1994) and Clark v. State, 579 So. 2d 109 (Fla. 1991). Both of those cases refer to "previously entered orders of probation or community control". The order in question was not "entered" or "rendered" until it was filed with the clerk. The terms of Petitioner's community control and probation were not enhanced after rendition.

As this Court noted in <u>Harris v. State</u>, 645 So. 2d 386, 388 (Fla. 1994): "The Constitution does not require that sentencing should be a game in which a wrong move by the judge means immunity for the prisoner." Failure to announce special conditions orally should not create a "gotcha'" situation which would preclude the trial court from including in its written probation order special conditions which it feels may aid in the

probationer's rehabilitation. It merely means that the defendant should be afforded a hearing and opportunity to object to those special conditions not orally pronounced. In <u>Justice</u>, <u>Supra</u>, Judge Harris suggests that, if the situation arises where the trial court decides to impose conditions not orally pronounced, he should conduct a second hearing prior to signing the written order.

In Hart v. State, 651 So. 2d 112 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995), decision pending on discretionary review Florida Supreme Court Case No. 85,168, the Second District cited Tillman, Supra, for the general proposition that the prospective probationer has notice of all probation conditions contained in the applicable probation statutes and, therefore, those conditions need not be orally pronounced. However, the District Court was concerned that some of the "general conditions" contained in the approved probation order in Rule 3.986 are not mentioned in the statute and was unsure whether those "general conditions" must be orally pronounced or whether the 1992 amendments to Rule 3.986 provided sufficient notice so as to make oral pronouncement unnecessary. In re AMENDMENTS TO THE FLORIDA RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE --RULES 3.140 AND 3.986, 603 So. 2d 1144, 1154-1158 (Fla. 1992). See Biller v. State, 618 So. 2d 734, 735 Ftnt. 1 (Fla. 1993); Emond v. State, 652 So. 2d 419, 420 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995), citing State v. Beasley, 580 So. 2d 139 (Fla. 1991).

Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.986(e) and (f) set forth the form orders for probation and community control including the standard and special conditions thereof.

Conditions (1) through (8) of Petitioner's probation order are essentially the same as the standard conditions contained in the form probation order. Respondent would assert that promulgation of Rule 3.986 effective May 28, 1992 constituted sufficient notice of those standard conditions to Petitioner who committed his offenses on August 4, 1992 and who was sentenced in 1993. any event, conditions (1), (7) and (8) are statutorily authorized under Section 948.03(1), Florida Statutes (1993). Condition (9), (11), (13) and (20) were specifically designated as conditions of the community control which would be deleted upon successful completion of that program. (R140). Condition (9) merely provides for reporting to the community control officer. That is a standard condition under the Rule and is a statutorily authorized condition of community control under Sections 948.03(1)(a) and 948.03(2)(a)1, Florida Statutes (1993).Condition (10), relating to community service work was orally pronounced and is a standard condition under the Rule and authorized by Section 948.031, Florida Statutes (1993).Condition (11) is likewise a standard condition of community control and is authorized by Sections 948.03(1)(d) 948.03(2)(a)2, Florida Statutes (1993), providing that probationer should remain in a specified place, i.e. at his residence when he is not working. Condition (15) relates to restitution. There was none in this case. Conditions (16) and (18) are statutorily mandated costs. Conditions (19) and (20) allow electronic monitoring if found to be necessary. Those are special conditions of community control under the Rule, but they

are authorized by Section 948.03(2)(a)4, Florida Statutes (1993). Condition (21) providing that Petitioner shall not illegally possess controlled substances is encompassed by standard condition (5) providing that Petitioner should live without violating the law. Condition (12) relates to random testing for drugs and alcohol and is statutorily authorized under Section 948.03(1)(j)1, Florida Statutes (1993). Random urinalysis as part of a drug treatment program was discussed orally during the sentencing hearing and is also listed as condition (26). (R79). Condition (22) also mentions random testing for drugs and alcohol, but includes provision for reasonable searches not orally mentioned or included in the standard or statutory conditions. Special conditions (23) through (25) relating to the fine, costs and mental health treatment, were orally pronounced at the sentencing hearing. (R78-82).

It is Respondent's position that the applicable probation and community control statutes and Rule 3.986 give the defendant adequate notice of the standard conditions of community control and probation. Given the practical problem of the time constraints under which the criminal trial courts operate, requiring the repeated recitation of the standard conditions of probation to every defendant who enters a guilty or no contest plea at arraignment or calendar call and who is placed on probation would serve only to create unnecessary log jams and delays. Every defendant in felony court is entitled to the representation of counsel. There is no reason why counsel could not familiarize his client with the standard conditions of

probation and discuss questions and objections relating thereto outside the presence of the court. Hopefully, this Court's answer to the certified question in <u>Hart</u>, <u>Supra</u>, will resolve once and for all the issue of the necessity for the oral pronouncement of the standard and statutory conditions.

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